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STATE OF FLORIDA 

DIVISION OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS 

 

 

RODERICK L. MILLER, 

 

     Petitioner, 

 

vs. 

 

MOJO OLD CITY BBQ, 

 

 Respondent. 

                              / 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Case No. 14-3598 

 

 

  

RECOMMENDED ORDER 

 

A formal hearing was conducted in this case on December 17, 

2014, in St. Augustine, Florida, before Lawrence P. Stevenson, a 

duly-designated Administrative Law Judge with the Division of 

Administrative Hearings. 

APPEARANCES 

 

 For Petitioner:  Roderick L. Miller, pro se 

                      301 Riberia Street 

                      St. Augustine, Florida  32084 

 

 For Respondent:  Gregory W. Lineberry, Esquire 

                      Mojo Q Holdings, LLC 

                      Suite 5 

                      6000 Phillips Highway North                                                                                                

                      Jacksonville, Florida  32216 

 

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE 

The issue is whether Respondent, Mojo Old City BBQ 

("Mojo"), committed unlawful employment practices contrary to 

section 760.10, Florida Statutes (2013),
1/
 by discriminating 

against Petitioner based on his gender.   
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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

On or about January 15, 2014, Petitioner Roderick L. Miller 

("Petitioner") filed with the Florida Commission on Human 

Relations ("FCHR") an Employee Complaint of Discrimination 

against Mojo.  Petitioner alleged that he had been discriminated 

against pursuant to chapter 760, Florida Statutes, and Title VII 

of the Federal Civil Rights Act as follows: 

I am a male and have been discriminated 

against on the basis of sex/gender by my 

former employer, Mojo Old City BBQ.  I began 

my employment with the respondent in July 

2013 and worked as a dishwasher until my 

wrongful termination on November 29, 2013.  

From the onset of my employment, fellow 

employees called me faggot, he-she and other 

derogatory names that insinuated I did not 

look like a man.  I am neither a homosexual 

nor a transgender person.  Additionally, the 

respondent would schedule me for a morning 

shift and then send me home, telling me to 

come back at night.  When I would arrive at 

night I would be forced to wash the entire 

day’s dishes in a very short period of time.  

Fellow employees refused to work with me 

because they thought I looked like a woman 

and did not want to be near me.  My managers 

were fully aware of the harassment I was 

suffering but took no action in an effort to 

force me toward constructive discharge.  In 

response to my reports of discrimination and 

disparate treatment my manager stated “If 

you don’t like it, go somewhere else.”  I 

was terminated on November 29, 2013 for an 

alleged “attitude problem.” 

 

The FCHR investigated Petitioner's Complaint.  In a letter 

dated July 11, 2014, the FCHR issued its determination that 
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there was no reasonable cause to believe that an unlawful 

employment practice occurred. 

On August 4, 2014, Petitioner timely filed a Petition for 

Relief with the FCHR.  On the same date, the FCHR referred the 

case to the Division of Administrative Hearings ("DOAH").  The 

case was originally scheduled for hearing on September 26, 2014.  

One continuance was granted.  The hearing was ultimately held on 

December 17, 2014. 

At the hearing, Petitioner testified on his own behalf. 

Petitioner offered no exhibits.  Respondent presented the 

testimony of Laura Jenkins, a front-house supervisor at Mojo; 

Billy J. Ambrose II, a kitchen manager at Mojo; and Linda B. 

Prescott, the general manager of Mojo.  Respondent's Exhibits 1 

through 3 were admitted into evidence. 

The one-volume Transcript of the hearing was filed at DOAH 

on January 14, 2015.  Petitioner had filed a single-page 

handwritten statement on December 29, 2014, and filed nothing 

further after issuance of the Transcript.  Respondent timely 

filed a Proposed Recommended Order on January 21, 2015.   

FINDINGS OF FACT 

1.  Mojo is an employer as that term is defined in section 

760.02(7), Florida Statutes.  Mojo owns and operates a 

restaurant at 5 Cordova Street in St. Augustine.   
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2.  Mojo has put in place written policies and procedures 

that prohibit, among other things, discrimination or harassment 

on the basis of race, gender, national origin, or any other 

categories of persons protected by state or federal anti-

discrimination laws.  The policies also provide a specific 

complaint procedure for any employee who believes that he or she 

is being discriminated against or harassed.  At the time of his 

hiring, Petitioner received an orientation that thoroughly 

explained the anti-discrimination and reporting policies.  

Testimony at the hearing established that Petitioner was again 

informed of these policies at an employee insurance meeting held 

in October 2013.  

3.  Petitioner, a black male, was hired by Mojo on   

August 2, 2013, as a dishwasher. 

4.  Petitioner testified that “from day one” he was called 

names and harassed by everyone at Mojo, employees and managers 

alike.  He stated that an employee named Linwood Finley would 

yell that he didn’t want to work with a man who looked like a 

girl, or a “he/she.”  Mr. Finley said, “I don’t want to work 

with a man that can't have kids.” 

5.  Petitioner testified that the managers and staff would 

accuse him of looking between their legs.  Employees would walk 

up to him and try to kiss him.  He was told that he had to go 

along with these antics or find somewhere else to wash dishes. 
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6.  Petitioner testified that he believed he was fired for 

refusing to kiss other male employees.  He had seen Mr. Finley 

and another male employee kissing behind the restaurant.  He 

stated that two male employees had tried to kiss him and he 

refused their advances. 

7.  Petitioner testified that he complained about the 

kissing to anyone who would listen.  He said, “I’m not a woman, 

I’m a man. I got to come in here every day to the same stuff 

over and over.  Y’all act like little kids.”  Petitioner stated 

that when he complained, the harassment would stop for the rest 

of that day but would resume on the following day. 

8.  Petitioner testified that there is a conspiracy against 

him in St. Augustine.  For the last five years, he has been 

harassed in the same way at every place he has worked.  

Petitioner specifically cited Flagler College, the Columbia 

Restaurant, and Winn-Dixie as places where he worked and 

suffered name calling and harassment. 

9.  Petitioner testified that he wanted to call several 

employees from Mojo as witnesses but that he was unable to 

subpoena them because Mojo refused to provide him with their 

addresses.  Petitioner could provide no tangible evidence of 

having made any discovery requests on Mojo. 
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10.  Petitioner was terminated on November 29, 2013, 

pursuant to a “Disciplinary Action Form” that provided as 

follows: 

Roderick closed Wednesday night
2/
 in the dish 

pit.  Again we have come to the problem with 

Roderick not working well with others 

causing a hostile work environment.  This 

has been an ongoing issue.  This issue has 

not resolved itself, and has been tolerated 

long enough.  Roderick has been talked [to] 

about this plenty of times and written up 

previously for the same behavior. 

 

11.  The documentary evidence established that Petitioner 

had received another Disciplinary Action Form on October 2, 

2013, providing a written warning for insubordination for his 

hostile reaction when a manager asked him to pick up the pace in 

the evening. 

12.  Laura Jenkins, the front-house supervisor at Mojo, was 

present at Mojo on the night of November 27, 2013.  She 

testified that Petitioner had a history of getting into 

arguments with other kitchen employees that escalated into 

screaming matches during which Petitioner would commence calling 

the other employees “nigger.”  Ms. Jenkins stated that on more 

than one occasion she had asked Petitioner to cease using “the 

‘N’ word.” 

13.  On the night of November 27, Petitioner was running 

behind on the dishes, so Ms. Jenkins asked another kitchen 

employee, Colin Griffin, to pitch in and help him.  Petitioner 
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did not want the help and argued with Mr. Griffin.  Ms. Jenkins 

testified that Petitioner was screaming and cursing.  The 

situation was so volatile that Ms. Jenkins felt physically 

threatened by Petitioner.  She was afraid to discipline him that 

evening while she was the sole manager in the restaurant. 

14.  On November 29, Ms. Jenkins met with kitchen manager 

Billy Ambrose and general manager Linda Prescott.  They decided 

that Petitioner’s actions could not be tolerated anymore and 

that his employment would be terminated. 

15.  Mr. Ambrose testified that on several occasions he 

sent people to help Petitioner in the dish pit and Petitioner 

refused their help.  Petitioner would get into arguments with 

other employees over such things as the proper way to stack 

dishes.  Mr. Ambrose named four different employees, including 

Mr. Finley, whom he sent to help Petitioner.  Each one of them 

reported that Petitioner started an argument.  Mr. Ambrose 

stated he went in to help Petitioner himself on one occasion and 

that Petitioner “kind of gave me attitude” despite the fact that 

Mr. Ambrose was his supervisor. 

16.  Mr. Ambrose testified that Petitioner had an argument 

with Mr. Finley one morning that resulted in Mr. Ambrose having 

a cautionary talk with both employees.  Mr. Ambrose sent 

Mr. Finley to help Petitioner in the dish pit.  Petitioner 

stated, “Nigger, I don’t need your help.”  Mr. Ambrose asked if 
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there was a problem.  Petitioner said, “No, we’re fine.” 

Mr. Ambrose asked Mr. Finley if everything was all right.  

Mr. Finley replied, “Yeah, I guess he’s just having a bad day.”  

Mr. Ambrose returned to his work only to find, five minutes 

later, that the two men were nose to nose arguing about the fact 

that Mr. Finley wasn’t washing dishes the way Petitioner liked. 

17.  Ms. Jenkins, Mr. Ambrose, and Ms. Prescott all 

testified that they had never seen another employee harass 

Petitioner and had never heard of such a thing occurring.  

Petitioner never complained to any of these supervisors about 

discrimination or harassment of any kind.  All three testified 

that they had never seen male employees kissing one another on 

the job nor seen any male employee attempt to kiss Petitioner.    

18.  The three supervisors never heard any employee make 

comments about Petitioner’s appearing to be a girl.  Ms. Jenkins 

testified that as a gay woman she would absolutely not allow any 

discrimination based on Petitioner’s gender orientation. 

19.  Petitioner offered no credible evidence disputing the 

legitimate, non-discriminatory reasons given by Mojo for his 

termination.     

20.  Petitioner offered no credible evidence that Mojo's 

stated reasons for his termination were a pretext for 

discrimination based on Petitioner’s gender. 
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21.  Petitioner offered no credible evidence that Mojo 

discriminated against him because of his gender in violation of 

section 760.10, Florida Statutes. 

22.  Petitioner offered no credible evidence that his 

dismissal from employment was in retaliation for any complaint 

of discriminatory employment practices that he made while an 

employee of Mojo.  There was no credible evidence that 

Petitioner ever complained to a superior about the alleged 

harassment. 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

23.  The Division of Administrative Hearings has 

jurisdiction of the subject matter of and the parties to this 

proceeding.  §§ 120.569 and 120.57(1), Fla. Stat. (2014). 

24.  The Florida Civil Rights Act of 1992 (the "Florida 

Civil Rights Act" or the "Act"), chapter 760, Florida Statutes, 

prohibits discrimination in the workplace.  

25.  Section 760.10, Florida Statutes, states the 

following, in relevant part: 

(1)  It is an unlawful employment practice 

for an employer: 

  

(a)  To discharge or to fail or refuse to 

hire any individual, or otherwise to 

discriminate against any individual with 

respect to compensation, terms, conditions, 

or privileges of employment, because of such 

individual's race, color, religion, sex, 

national origin, age, handicap, or marital 

status. 
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   * * * 

 

(7)  It is an unlawful employment practice 

for an employer . . . to discriminate 

against any person because that person has 

opposed any practice which is an unlawful 

employment practice under this section, or 

because that person has made a charge, 

testified, assisted, or participated in any 

manner in an investigation, proceeding, or 

hearing under this section. 

 

26.  Mojo is an "employer" as defined in section 760.02(7), 

Florida Statutes, which provides the following: 

(7)  "Employer" means any person employing 

15 or more employees for each working day in 

each of 20 or more calendar weeks in the 

current or preceding calendar year, and any 

agent of such a person. 

 

27.  Florida courts have determined that federal case law 

applies to claims arising under the Florida's Civil Rights Act, 

and as such, the United States Supreme Court's model for 

employment discrimination cases set forth in McDonnell Douglas 

Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792, 93 S. Ct. 1817, 36 L. Ed. 2d 668 

(1973), applies to claims arising under section 760.10, absent 

direct evidence of discrimination.
3/
  See Paraohao v. Bankers 

Club, Inc., 225 F. Supp. 2d 1353, 1361 (S.D. Fla. 2002); Fla. 

State Univ. v. Sondel, 685 So. 2d 923, 925 n.1 (Fla. 1st DCA 

1996); Fla. Dep’t of Comm. Aff. v. Bryant, 586 So. 2d 1205 (Fla. 

1st DCA 1991). 
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28.  Under the McDonnell analysis, in employment 

discrimination cases, Petitioner has the burden of establishing 

by a preponderance of evidence a prima facie case of unlawful 

discrimination.  If the prima facie case is established, the 

burden shifts to the employer to rebut this preliminary showing 

by producing evidence that the adverse action was taken for some 

legitimate, non-discriminatory reason.  If the employer rebuts 

the prima facie case, the burden shifts back to Petitioner to 

show by a preponderance of evidence that the employer's offered 

reasons for its adverse employment decision were pretextual.  

See Texas Dep’t of Comm. Aff. v. Burdine, 450 U.S. 248, 101 S. 

Ct. 1089, 67 L. Ed. 2d 207 (1981). 

29.  In order to prove a prima facie case of unlawful 

employment discrimination under chapter 760, Petitioner must 

establish that:  (1) he is a member of the protected group; 

(2) he was subject to adverse employment action; (3) Mojo 

treated similarly situated employees outside of his protected 

classifications more favorably; and (4) Petitioner was qualified 

to do the job and/or was performing his job at a level that met 

the employer’s legitimate expectations.  See, e.g., Jiles v. 

United Parcel Serv., Inc., 360 Fed. Appx. 61, 64 (11th Cir. 

2010); Burke-Fowler v. Orange Cnty, 447 F.3d 1319, 1323 (11th 

Cir. 2006); Knight v. Baptist Hosp. of Miami, Inc., 330 F.3d 

1313, 1316 (11th Cir. 2003); Williams v. Vitro Serv. Corp., 144 
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F.3d 1438, 1441 (11th Cir. 1998); McKenzie v. EAP Mgmt. Corp., 

40 F. Supp. 2d 1369, 1374-75 (S.D. Fla. 1999). 

30.  Petitioner has failed to prove a prima facie case of 

unlawful employment discrimination. 

31.  As a male, Petitioner is a member of a protected class 

as it relates to gender discrimination.  Longariello v. Sch. Bd. 

of Monroe Cnty., 987 F. Supp. 1440, 1448-49 (S.D. Fla. 1997).   

Petitioner was subject to an adverse employment action in that 

he was terminated from his position as a dishwasher with Mojo.  

Petitioner was qualified to perform the job of dishwasher.  The 

evidence established that Petitioner's job performance was 

generally adequate, though punctuated by bouts of 

insubordination and ill-tempered outbursts when he fell behind 

and needed help that he did not want.  These episodes greatly 

diminished Petitioner’s value as an employee, to the point that 

his tirade of November 27, 2013, constituted the last straw for 

management.  

32.  As to the question of disparate treatment, the 

applicable standard was set forth in Maniccia v. Brown, 171 F.3d 

1364, 1368-1369 (11th Cir. 1999): 

"In determining whether employees are 

similarly situated for purposes of 

establishing a prima facie case, it is 

necessary to consider whether the employees 

are involved in or accused of the same 

or similar conduct and are disciplined in 

different ways."  Jones v. Bessemer Carraway 
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Med. Ctr., 137 F.3d 1306, 1311 (11th 

Cir.), opinion modified by 151 F.3d 1321 

(1998) (quoting Holifield v. Reno, 115 F.3d 

1555, 1562 (11th Cir. 1997)). "The most 

important factors in the disciplinary 

context are the nature of the offenses 

committed and the nature of the punishments 

imposed."  Id. (internal quotations and 

citations omitted).  We require that the 

quantity and quality of the comparator's 

misconduct be nearly identical to prevent 

courts from second-guessing employers' 

reasonable decisions and confusing apples 

with oranges.  See Dartmouth Review 

v. Dartmouth College, 889 F.2d 13, 19 (1st 

Cir.1989) ("Exact correlation is neither 

likely nor necessary, but the cases must be 

fair congeners.  In other words, apples 

should be compared to apples."). (Emphasis 

added.)
4/
 

   

33.  Petitioner presented no credible evidence that his 

gender played any role in the business decisions made by Mojo.  

He presented no evidence that any similarly situated employee 

was treated any better than was Petitioner.  Petitioner’s 

assertion that he was fired for refusing to kiss other male 

employees was ludicrous on its face.  Having failed to establish 

the disparate treatment element, Petitioner has not established 

a prima facie case of employment discrimination. 

34.  Even if Petitioner had met the burden, Mojo presented 

evidence of legitimate, non-discriminatory reasons for 

Petitioner's termination.  Petitioner’s repeated temper 

tantrums, particularly those punctuated by his liberal use of 

the imprecation “nigger,” were obviously intolerable in any 
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conceivable business setting.  Petitioner’s contentions that 

male employees of Mojo were constantly trying to kiss him and 

that there was a conspiracy among various St. Augustine 

institutions to harass him because of his perceived effeminacy 

were clearly without factual support and constituted further 

sound reasons for Mojo to separate Petitioner from his 

employment.  Petitioner's gender had nothing to do with Mojo's 

decision to terminate his employment. 

RECOMMENDATION 

 

Based on the foregoing Findings of Fact and Conclusions of 

Law, it is  

RECOMMENDED that the Florida Commission on Human Relations 

issue a final order finding that Mojo Old City BBQ did not 

commit any unlawful employment practices and dismissing the 

Petition for Relief filed in this case. 

DONE AND ENTERED this 23rd day of February, 2015, in 

Tallahassee, Leon County, Florida. 

S                                   

LAWRENCE P. STEVENSON 

Administrative Law Judge 

Division of Administrative Hearings 

The DeSoto Building 

1230 Apalachee Parkway 

Tallahassee, Florida  32399-3060 

(850) 488-9675   SUNCOM 278-9675 

Fax Filing (850) 921-6847 

www.doah.state.fl.us 
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Filed with the Clerk of the 

Division of Administrative Hearings 

this 23rd day of February, 2015. 

 

 

ENDNOTES 

 
1/
  Citations shall be to Florida Statutes (2013) unless 

otherwise specified.  Section 760.10, Florida Statutes, has been 

unchanged since 1992. 

 
2/
  Wednesday night was November 27.  The next day was 

Thanksgiving.  It is unclear whether the restaurant was closed 

on Thanksgiving, but it was undisputed that Petitioner did not 

work on Thursday.  He was fired on the next day he showed up for 

work, Friday, November 29.    

 
3/
  “Direct evidence is ‘evidence, which if believed, proves 

existence of fact in issue without inference or presumption.’"  

Rollins v. TechSouth, Inc., 833 F.2d 1525, 1528 n.6 (11th Cir. 

1987) (quoting Black’s Law Dictionary 413 (5th ed. 1979)).  In 

Carter v. City of Miami, 870 F.2d 578, 582 (11th Cir. 1989), the 

court stated:   

 

This Court has held that not every comment 

concerning a person's age presents direct 

evidence of discrimination. [Young v. Gen. 

Foods Corp. 840 F.2d 825, 829 (11th Cir. 

1988)].  The Young Court made clear that 

remarks merely referring to characteristics 

associated with increasing age, or facially 

neutral comments from which a plaintiff has 

inferred discriminatory intent, are not 

directly probative of discrimination.  Id.  

Rather, courts have found only the most 

blatant remarks, whose intent could be 

nothing other than to discriminate on the 

basis of age, to constitute direct evidence 

of discrimination. 

 

Petitioner offered no evidence that would satisfy the stringent 

standard of direct evidence of discrimination. 

 
4/
  The Eleventh Circuit has questioned the "nearly identical" 

standard enunciated in Maniccia, but has in recent years 

reaffirmed its adherence to it.  Escarra v. Regions Bank, 353 
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Fed. Appx. 401, 404 (11th Cir. 2009); Burke-Fowler, 447 F.3d at 

1323 n.2. 
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NOTICE OF RIGHT TO SUBMIT EXCEPTIONS 

 

All parties have the right to submit written exceptions within 
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to this Recommended Order should be filed with the agency that 

will issue the Final Order in this case. 
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STATE OF FLORIDA 

DIVISION OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS 

 

 

WANDA I. PERALES, 

 

     Petitioner, 

 

vs. 

 

EZ PAWN FLORIDA, INC., 

 

     Respondent. 

_______________________________/ 

 

 

 

 

Case No. 14-2210 

 

 

RECOMMENDED ORDER 

 

A final hearing was held in this matter before Robert S. 

Cohen, Administrative Law Judge with the Division of 

Administrative Hearings, on December 10, 2014, in Orlando, 

Florida. 

APPEARANCES 

For Petitioner:  Erich Schuttauf, Esquire 

                 Erich E. Schuttauf Attorney at Law 

                 7901 Kingspointe Parkway, Building 9 

                 Orlando, Florida  32819 

 

For Respondent:  Jason Matthew Leo, Esquire 

                 Littler Mendelson, P.C. 

                 111 North Magnolia Avenue, Suite 1250 

                 Orlando, Florida  32801 

 

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE 

The issue is whether Respondent committed an act of 

discrimination against Petitioner on the basis of her gender and 

national origin, and subject to retaliation in violation of the 

Florida Civil Rights Act. 
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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

Respondent EZ Pawn Florida, Inc. (“Respondent” or “EZPAWN”) 

operates pawnshops throughout Florida and Georgia.  Petitioner 

was an employee of Respondent, working as a sales and lending 

representative at one of its locations in Orlando, Florida.  

Petitioner’s employment was terminated on April 11, 2013, after 

she violated a company policy by not obtaining the identification 

of a customer to whom she was showing a piece of jewelry valued 

at more than $500, which resulted in a loss. 

On December 20, 2013, Petitioner filed a Charge of 

Discrimination with the Florida Commission on Human Relations 

(FCHR) alleging that she was discriminated against based upon her 

gender and national origin and subject to retaliation.  

Respondent submitted a position statement denying all allegations 

contained in Petitioner’s Charge of Discrimination.  After 

completing its investigation, FCHR issued a “no cause” 

determination.  Petitioner filed a Petition for Relief on May 15, 

2014, electing an administrative hearing to contest disputed 

issues of material fact.  The final hearing was scheduled and 

took place on December 10, 2014, in Orlando, Florida.  Prior to 

the hearing, the parties filed a Joint Pre-hearing Statement, 

which included statements of admitted facts and law. 

At the hearing, Petitioner testified as a witness.  

Petitioner also offered three exhibits, all of which were 
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admitted into evidence.  Respondent presented the testimony of 

Joseph Roberts and Aban Basch as witnesses and offered two 

exhibits, which were admitted into evidence.   

A one-volume Transcript was filed on January 22, 2015.  

Petitioner and Respondent filed their proposed findings of fact 

and conclusions of law on January 26, 2015, and January 22, 2015, 

respectively.   

References to statutes are to Florida Statutes (2014) unless 

otherwise noted.   

FINDINGS OF FACT 

1.  Petitioner, Wanda I. Perales, was born in Puerto Rico 

and moved to the United States in 2008 when she was approximately 

32 years old.  She has lived in Florida since that time.  She 

considers her national origin to be Hispanic. 

2.  Petitioner was hired by EZPAWN in November 2009 as a 

sales and lending representative.  Her position at EZPAWN was the 

first she was able to obtain in the United States after looking 

for employment for over a year. 

3.  Respondent has policies and procedures in place that 

prohibit discrimination on the basis of gender, national origin, 

or any other protected characteristics or classes of employees.  

Respondent’s policies and procedures also prohibit retaliation. 

4.  Petitioner received a copy of, and read, the employee 

handbook containing all of Respondent’s anti-discrimination 
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policies.  She was well aware that EZPAWN had anti-discrimination 

and anti-retaliation policies. 

5.  When Petitioner first began working for Respondent, she 

worked at its Palm Bay Road location in the Melbourne, Florida, 

area.  At that time, she received training on Respondent’s 

employee handbook and about obtaining customer IDs.  She was 

taught that “[w]hen a customer comes to the store to see jewelry 

and the value is more than $500, we have to ask for one ID, keep 

it . . . in the jewelry case.  And then we can hand the . . . 

jewelry to the customer.” 

6.  This policy is found in the employee handbook.  The 

policy states that Class A Misconduct, which “may result in 

termination of employment on the first occurrence,” includes: 

Behavior that creates actual harm or loss to 

another person or to the Company; damage to 

Company property or to the property of others 

while on Company time or on Company premises.  

This includes, but is not limited to:  . . . 

[f]ailure to obtain a customer’s ID prior to 

allowing the customer to handle jewelry that 

is priced at $500 or more (resulting in 

loss).   

 

7.  Petitioner understood that if she violated this policy 

she could be subject to discharge or termination.   

8.  Petitioner testified that the training did not address 

what to do if two people came into the store at the same time.  

It was her understanding that if a couple came into the store 

together, she was only required to ask for one ID.  Both Joseph 
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Roberts from Respondent’s human resources, and Aban Basch, the 

store manager, testified that the policy applies as it is written 

and that if a couple comes into the store, the ID must be 

received from the person (or persons) to whom the jewelry is 

actually handed.  One ID is all that is required if only one 

member of the couple will handle the jewelry. 

9.  There is also a sign in the jewelry case at each of 

Respondent’s locations that states, “[a] state issued photo 

identification is REQUIRED for all jewelry items being shown 

valued over $500.” 

10.  While working in the Palm Bay store in January 2010, 

“John” (last name unknown by Petitioner) became Petitioner’s 

supervisor.  She alleged that on a few occasions he wanted to 

transfer her because of the language barrier.  After Petitioner 

complained of John’s comments, Mr. Roberts, the human resources 

business partner overseeing Central Florida, went to the store to 

investigate.  Mr. Roberts coached John on his comments and 

provided him with additional training.  Petitioner seemed to be 

satisfied with these results.  John never made derogatory 

comments about Puerto Ricans or women.  Further, John never took 

any adverse employment action against Petitioner. 

11.  In July 2010, Petitioner requested a transfer to a 

store closer to where she lived.  This was at her request and was 

not disciplinary on the part of her employer.  She had never been 
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written up or disciplined by Respondent while in the Palm Bay 

store. 

12.  Petitioner’s transfer request was granted and she moved 

to a store located on South Semoran Boulevard in Orlando, 

Florida.  At the Semoran store, the majority of EZPAWN’s 

customers (estimated by the manager at 80-85 percent) are 

Hispanic.  Petitioner communicated with them in Spanish as 

necessary for those who only spoke Spanish. 

13.  Of the 12 employees Petitioner worked with at the 

Semoran store, ten of them were Puerto Rican or Hispanic, and 

seven were women. 

14.  At some point, Mr. Basch became Petitioner’s 

supervisor.  In February 2012, he brought in flowers and 

chocolates for all the employees for Valentine’s Day.  Petitioner 

rejected the gifts and believed that thereafter, Mr. Basch 

changed completely when dealing with her. 

15.  Petitioner believes Mr. Basch cut her hours on one 

occasion because she had rejected the candy and flowers he 

brought her and the other employees.  Mr. Basch testified he cut 

hours because his district manager had directed him to reduce 

hours for that week to manage payroll.  When she thought 

Mr. Basch was being disrespectful, Petitioner called the employee 

hotline and made a complaint against him.  In response to the 

complaint, Mr. Roberts visited the store to investigate, and 
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Petitioner also spoke with Cindy Bradley, Respondent’s Vice 

President of Human Resources.  Both Mr. Roberts and Ms. Bradley 

found Petitioner’s claims to be unsubstantiated. 

16.  On April 8, 2013, a man and a woman walked into the 

Semoran store.  Petitioner assumed they were together since they 

asked to look at engagement rings.  The woman gave Petitioner her 

photo ID, and Petitioner handed the ring valued at $1,500 to the 

man.  Upon receiving the ring, the man ran from the store.  

Petitioner admitted she gave the ring to a person from whom she 

had not secured a photo ID. 

17.  District Manager Corey Day, Manager Mr. Basch, and 

Assistant Manager Valdemar Santos (of Puerto Rican descent) were 

in the store when the incident occurred.  According to 

Petitioner, Mr. Santos ran from the store in pursuit of the 

individual who took the ring.  Petitioner believed that running 

after someone who steals from the store is a violation of company 

policy.  This was contradicted by Messrs. Roberts and Basch who 

both said it was important to pursue a thief to be able to tell 

the police in which direction he or she ran and whether the thief 

got into a vehicle which they could later identify to law 

enforcement.   

18.  The only reason given by Petitioner that she was 

discriminated against based on her gender is that Mr. Santos, a 

male employee, was not terminated for following the shoplifter 
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out of the store, an act she believed to be in violation of 

company policy.   

19.  Following the incident, Mr. Basch called the police who 

came to the store.  They approached the suspect, but were not 

able to retrieve the ring because he no longer had it in his 

possession.  The stolen ring was never returned to EZPAWN.   

20.  Since Petitioner violated EZPAWN’s policy of securing 

an ID from any person who is handed a piece of jewelry valued at 

more than $500, resulting in a loss of the property, the decision 

was made to terminate her employment with Respondent.  

Mr. Roberts made the decision to terminate Petitioner’s 

employment after discussing the matter with Messrs. Day and 

Basch.  Mr. Roberts testified that the decision to terminate 

Petitioner’s employment had nothing to do with her national 

origin or gender. 

21.  During Petitioner’s next scheduled work shift, Mr. Day 

asked to speak with her in the manager’s office.  Mr. Basch was 

also present.  Mr. Day told Petitioner that the decision had been 

made to terminate her employment after conferring with 

Messrs. Roberts and Basch.  He told Petitioner that he would give 

her a good reference for future employment because he believed 

her to be a good employee, who violated a company policy that 

requires termination.  Petitioner did not say anything during the 

meeting and left EZPAWN.  She did not complain to her bosses 
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assembled at the meeting that she believed she had been 

discriminated against for her gender or national origin. 

22.  Petitioner testified that no one told her she was 

terminated for being Puerto Rican or for being a woman.  She 

specifically stated she did not believe she had been terminated 

because of her Puerto Rican heritage.   

23.  Petitioner was unable to identify any other store 

employee who had not been terminated for violating the policy 

concerning securing a photo ID when showing jewelry with a value 

of more than $500.  She was aware of another employee named Jose 

in a different one of Respondent’s stores who had been terminated 

for violation of the same policy.  Mr. Roberts confirmed 

Petitioner’s testimony when he testified that every employee who 

violated the ID for jewelry policy had been terminated from 

employment.   

24.  Petitioner was aware of one other employee named 

Jessica who left the jewelry case keys on the counter that caused 

rings to be stolen.  Jessica was not terminated, however, because 

the rings had been recovered. 

25.  While working at EZPAWN, no employee had made 

derogatory comments to Petitioner about her gender or national 

origin.  Further, Petitioner had never complained to anyone at 

EZPAWN about being discriminated against on the basis of her 

gender or national origin.  She testified that, if she needed to 
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make a complaint, she was aware of the process for doing so.  She 

responded “yes” when asked if she knew to call the hotline if she 

felt she had been discriminated against. 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

26.  The Division of Administrative Hearings has 

jurisdiction over the subject matter of this proceeding and the 

parties thereto pursuant to sections 120.569, 120.57(1), and 

760.11(4)(b), Florida Statutes. 

27.  Section 760.10(1)(a), Florida Statutes, states as 

follows: 

(1)  It is an unlawful employment practice 

for an employer: 

 

(a)  To discharge or to fail or refuse to 

hire any individual, or otherwise to 

discriminate against any individual with 

respect to compensation, terms, conditions, 

or privileges of employment, because of such 

individual’s race, color, religion, sex, 

national origin, age, handicap, or marital 

status. 

 

28.  Petitioner is an “aggrieved person,” and Respondent is 

an “employer” within the meaning of section 760.02(10) and (7), 

respectively. 

29.  The Florida Civil Rights Act (FCRA), sections 760.01 

through 760.11, as amended, was patterned after Title VII of the 

Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000 et seq.  Federal case 

law interpreting Title VII is applicable to cases arising under 

the FCRA.  See Green v. Burger King Corp., 728 So. 2d 369,  
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370-71 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999); FSU v. Sondel, 685 So. 2d 923 (Fla. 

1st DCA 1996). 

30.  Petitioner has the burden of proving by a preponderance 

of the evidence that Respondent has discriminated against her.  

See Fla. Dep’t of Transp. v. J.W.C. Co., Inc., 396 So. 2d 778 

(Fla. 1st DCA 1981). 

31.  The United States Supreme Court has established an 

analytical framework within which courts should examine claims of 

discrimination.  In cases alleging discriminatory treatment, 

Petitioner has the initial burden of establishing, by a 

preponderance of the evidence, a prima facie case of 

discrimination.  St. Mary’s Honor Ctr. v. Hicks, 509 U.S. 502 

(1993); Combs v. Plantation Patterns, 106 F.3d 1519 (11th Cir. 

1997). 

32.  To establish a prima facie case of discrimination, 

Petitioner must establish the following:  (1) she is a member of 

a protected class; (2) she suffered an adverse employment action; 

(3) that she received disparate treatment from other similarly-

situated individuals in a non-protected class; and (4) that there 

is sufficient evidence of bias to infer a causal connection 

between her gender or national origin and the disparate 

treatment.   

33.  While the evidence established that Petitioner is a 

member of a protected class as a Puerto Rican female, and that an 
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adverse employment action occurred, namely, that she was 

terminated from her employment, she failed to prove that 

Respondent subjected her to different treatment for violation of 

the clearly expressed company policy due to her gender or 

national origin.  Petitioner was not able to prove she received 

disparate treatment from other similarly-situated individuals in 

a non-protected class.  She was terminated from her employment 

because she gave a piece of jewelry valued at more than $500 to a 

customer from whom she had not received a photo ID.  The customer 

took the ring and ran from the store.  The ring was never 

recovered, therefore, the result of the theft was a loss to the 

store.  Petitioner could identify no other employees whose 

similar actions resulted in a loss and who were not terminated 

from employment as a result of the ensuing loss of property by 

Respondent.  In fact, the testimony at hearing proved that all 

other company employees who violated the policy were terminated 

from employment when the violation resulted in a loss.  In short, 

Petitioner proved no causal connection between her gender or 

national origin and the alleged discriminatory treatment.   

34.  As to her claim of retaliation, Petitioner is protected 

if “[s]he has opposed any practice made an unlawful employment 

practice by this sub-chapter (the opposition clause) or ‘[s]he 

has made a charge, testified, assisted, or participated in any 

manner in an investigation, proceeding, or hearing under this 
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subchapter’ (the participation clause).”  Crawford v. City of 

Fairburn, 479 F.3d 774, 777 (11th Cir. 2007) (quoting 42 U.S.C. 

§ 2000e-3(a)).  A petitioner may only establish a prima facie 

case of retaliation under the opposition clause of Title VII if 

she shows she has a good faith, reasonable belief that the 

employer engaged in unlawful employment practices.  Little v. 

United Tech., Carr Transicold Div., 103 F.3d 956, 961 (11th Cir. 

1997). 

35.  Because Petitioner alleges a retaliation claim based on 

circumstantial evidence, the burden shifting framework in 

McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792 (1973) applies.  

To establish a prima facie case of retaliation, Petitioner must 

show that:  1) she was engaged in an activity protected under 

Title VII; 2) she suffered an adverse employment action; and 

3) there was a causal connection between the protected activity 

and the adverse employment action.  See Pennington v. City of 

Huntsville, 261 F.3d 1262 (11th Cir. 2001).   

36.  The first element of Petitioner’s claim of retaliation 

requires her to establish she engaged in statutorily protected 

activity.  She testified she never complained to anyone at EZPAWN 

about feeling discriminated against based upon her Puerto Rican 

national origin or gender.  She testified she knew how to raise a 

complaint, if she had one, through use of the employee hotline.  
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Since she admitted she never engaged in protected activity, her 

claim for retaliation must fail.   

37.  Petitioner did complain to Mr. Roberts that her 

manager, John, at the Palm Bay Road store wanted to transfer her 

due to a language barrier.  The complaint was investigated by 

Mr. Roberts and that manager was instructed on how to behave in 

such situations.  Even if this were protected activity, there is 

no causal connection between it and Petitioner’s ultimate 

termination for violating the company’s policy concerning handing 

over jewelry to customers without first securing a photo ID.  The 

only logical conclusion is that Petitioner has failed to 

participate in protected activity so as to bring a retaliation 

claim.  Other than a statement made by Petitioner at hearing that 

Mr. Basch had allegedly been rude to her on one occasion, causing 

her to make a hotline complaint, there is no evidence that this 

had anything to do with her gender or national origin, or any 

other protected characteristic.  She testified it could have been 

because she rejected the chocolates and flowers brought by 

Mr. Basch to all the employees around Valentine’s Day, but that 

is pure speculation on Petitioner’s part, not borne out by the 

evidence at hearing.  Petitioner failed to connect this to her 

termination and, therefore, her retaliation claim must fail. 

38.  Based upon the lack of evidence that Petitioner was 

terminated based upon discrimination or that she was treated 
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differently for her violation of company policy than other 

employees who were not members of a protected class, Petitioner 

failed to establish a prima facie case against Respondent for 

racial discrimination.  Further, she has failed to prove she was 

terminated as retaliation for any complaints she made or actions 

she took against her employer.  Accordingly, Respondent cannot be 

found to have committed the “unlawful employment practice” 

alleged in the employment discrimination charge, which is the 

subject of this proceeding.  Therefore, the employment 

discrimination charge should be dismissed.  

RECOMMENDATION 

Based on the foregoing Findings of Fact and Conclusions of 

Law, it is  

RECOMMENDED that the Florida Commission on Human Relations 

issue a final order finding Respondent did not commit the 

“unlawful employment practice” alleged by Petitioner and 

dismissing Petitioner’s employment discrimination charge. 



 

16 

DONE AND ENTERED this 25th day of February, 2015, in 

Tallahassee, Leon County, Florida.   

S                                   

ROBERT S. COHEN 

Administrative Law Judge 

Division of Administrative Hearings 

The DeSoto Building 

1230 Apalachee Parkway 

Tallahassee, Florida  32399-3060 

(850) 488-9675 

Fax Filing (850) 921-6847 

www.doah.state.fl.us 

 

Filed with the Clerk of the 

Division of Administrative Hearings 

this 25th day of February, 2015. 

 

 

COPIES FURNISHED: 

 

Erich Schuttauf, Esquire 

Erich E. Schuttauf Attorney at Law 

7901 Kingspointe Parkway, Building 9 

Orlando, Florida  32819 

(eServed) 

 

Laura Steege, Associate General Counsel 

2801 Via Fortuna, Suite 460 

Austin, Texas  78746 

 

Jason Matthew Leo, Esquire 

Littler Mendelson, P.C. 

111 North Magnolia Avenue, Suite 1250 

Orlando, Florida  32801 

(eServed) 

 

Cheyanne Michelle Costilla, General Counsel 

Florida Commission on Human Relations 

4075 Esplanade Way, Room 110 

Tallahassee, Florida  32399 
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Tammy Barton, Agency Clerk 

Florida Commission on Human Relations 

4075 Esplanade Way, Room 110 

Tallahassee, Florida  32399 

 

 

NOTICE OF RIGHT TO SUBMIT EXCEPTIONS 

 

All parties have the right to submit written exceptions within 

15 days from the date of this Recommended Order.  Any exceptions 

to this Recommended Order should be filed with the agency that 

will issue the Final Order in this case. 
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STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE 

 

The issue is whether Respondents violated the Florida Civil 

Rights Act (the Act), as amended, as alleged in Petitioner's 

Employment Complaint of Discrimination. 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

The procedural background of this case is somewhat unusual.  

On June 30, 2014, Petitioner filed an Employment Complaint of 

Discrimination with the Florida Commission on Human Relations 

(FCHR) alleging that she was terminated from employment by her 

former employer, Max-Pak, [LLC], on account of her sex.  On 

November 14, 2014, the FCHR issued a Notice of Determination:  

No Cause, in which it identified Max-Pak and "Staff Builders" as 

co-respondents.  Petitioner then filed a Petition for Relief, 

which identified "Johnnie Ford/Max-Pak" as the Respondent.
1/
  The 

Petition was transmitted by FCHR to DOAH requesting that a 

hearing be conducted to resolve the complaint.  The transmittal 

letter reflected only Max-Pak as a respondent.  On February 6, 

2015, an appearance was entered by counsel on behalf of Staff 

Builders HR, LLC (Staff Builders).  At hearing, by agreement of 

the parties, Staff Builders was added as a co-respondent.  On 

February 9, 2015, the case was transferred from Administrative 

Law Judge Quattlebaum to the undersigned. 
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At the final hearing, Richard A. Johnson was authorized to 

appear as Petitioner's qualified representative.  Petitioner 

testified on her own behalf and presented the testimony of one 

witness.  Staff Builders presented the testimony of two 

witnesses.  Respondent's Exhibits 1-10 were received in 

evidence.  There was no appearance on behalf of Max-Pak. 

There is no transcript of the hearing.  Staff Builders 

filed a Proposed Recommended Order, which has been considered in 

the preparation of this Recommended Order.
 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

1.  Petitioner is an African-American female.  She began 

employment with Staff Builders around October 2012 and continued 

working with that entity until she voluntarily resigned around 

May 2014.  As the name implies, Staff Builders is a staffing 

agency in Lakeland, Florida, that provides temporary staffing 

for various clients in the Lakeland area.  One client is Max-

Pak, a manufacturing firm also located in Lakeland.  A service 

agreement has been executed by the two companies to formalize 

this arrangement. 

2.  Because the evidence shows that Max-Pak was able to 

exercise control over the manner in which Petitioner and other 

temporary employees performed their duties, a joint employer 

relationship is present.  See, e.g., Amarnare v. Merrill Lynch, 

Pierce, Fenner & Smith, Inc., 611 F. Supp. 344, 349 (D.N.Y. 
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1984); Washington v. Cingular Wireless, LLC, Case No. 05-2988 

(Fla. DOAH Oct. 25, 2005; FCHR Jan. 6, 2006). 

3.  Before an employee is placed with a client, Staff 

Builders provides in-house training regarding work rules.  Each 

employee is required to sign a training checklist acknowledging 

that he/she has received this training.  Exhibit 8 reflects that 

Petitioner received this training on October 15, 2012.   

4.  As a part of her training, before she was assigned to 

work at Max-Pak, Petitioner was given a copy of Max-Pak's work 

rules.  See Resp. Ex. 7.  Among other things, the rules provide 

that if an employee is "threatening, intimidating, coercing or 

interfering with fellow employees at any time," it would 

"usually lead to the immediate dismissal at the first offense."  

Employees are expected to follow the work rules of both Staff 

Builders and their temporary employer.   

5.  When the underlying incident occurred, Petitioner was 

working as a temporary employee for Max-Pak in the assembly 

line.  On March 24, 2014, the men's restroom was out of service.  

This required that both male and female workers use the women's 

restroom until the men's restroom was restored to service. 

6.  That morning, Petitioner went to the restroom, knocked 

on the closed door, and a male voice responded "wait a minute."  

The person using the bathroom was Tommy Engram, an African- 
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American male who worked as a temporary staffing employee in the 

shipping and receiving department.   

7.  Although the testimony describing the incident is quite 

limited, the more credible evidence shows that when Engram 

exited the restroom, Petitioner demanded to know why he was 

using the women's restroom.  "Words" between the two ensued, 

including a comment by Engram that Petitioner should not 

disrespect him.  Petitioner testified that she was insulted by 

the tone and demeanor of Engram's words, and had she not been a 

female, he would not have spoken to her in the manner that he 

did.  However, there is no credible evidence that Engram used 

profanity or words of a sexual nature, or that his remarks were 

motivated by gender considerations. 

8.  When Petitioner spotted Engram in her work area a few 

minutes later, she demanded to know why he was there.  The two 

had further words, and Petitioner told Engram she would have her 

boyfriend "beat him up."  She then telephoned her boyfriend, 

Kenneth Graham, and told him about the incident.  By threatening 

Engram in this manner, Petitioner violated a Max-Pak work rule 

that prohibits an employee from threatening or intimidating a 

fellow employee and was subject to immediate dismissal. 

9.  That same evening, Engram went to "the trees," a local 

area frequented mainly by African-Americans where they socialize 

and drink.  Graham was also at the trees that evening, and after 
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he spotted Engram, Graham says they began arguing about the 

restroom incident and a "fist fight" between the two took place.  

Engram suggested that the fight was instigated by Graham, and 

his version of events was corroborated by a witness to the 

fight, whose statement indicates that Graham initiated the 

skirmish.  See Resp. Ex. 2.  Engram's version is accepted as 

being more credible. 

10.  The next morning, Engram reported the incident to 

Ford.  After Ford and Max-Pak conferred, Staff Builders advised 

Petitioner that Max-Pak no longer wanted her as a staffing 

employee at their plant.  This action was taken solely because 

Petitioner had violated a Max-Pak work rule by threatening 

Engram with physical harm.  There was no evidence that the 

decision by either Respondent was based on Petitioner's gender. 

11.  This was not the first time a temporary employee at 

Max-Pak was asked not to return for violating work rules.  Two 

other Staff Builder workers, both males, were also reassigned to 

another client after violating the same anti-violence work 

rules. 

12.  Petitioner continued working for Staff Builders and 

was assigned to staff another client in Tampa, where she worked 

for four or five weeks.  After finding a permanent job, 

Petitioner voluntarily resigned her position with Staff Builders 

around May 2014.   
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13.  Petitioner's complaint was filed on June 30, 2014.  

She says it was filed because no one would tell her why she 

could not return to Max-Pak.  However, at no time before the 

complaint was filed did Petitioner advise either Max-Pak or 

Staff Builders that she believed her "termination" was because 

of her sex.  In fact, the only person she reported any alleged 

discrimination to was "Jade," a co-worker whose last name was 

not given.   

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

14.  Petitioner has the burden of proving by a 

preponderance of the evidence that Respondents committed an 

unlawful employment practice.  See § 120.57(1)(j), Fla. Stat.   

15.  Section 760.10(1)(a), Florida Statutes (2014), makes 

it unlawful for an employer to take adverse action against an 

individual because of the individual's sex.   

16.  The Act is patterned after Title VII of the Civil 

Rights Act of 1964, as amended.  Thus, case law construing Title 

VII is persuasive when construing the Act.  See, e.g., Fla. 

State Univ. v. Sondel, 685 So. 2d 923, 925 n.1 (Fla. 1st DCA 

1996).   

17.  Petitioner may establish unlawful discrimination based 

on gender through the use of direct evidence or circumstantial 

evidence.  Harris v. Shelby Cnty. Bd. of Educ., 99 F.3d 1078, 

1083 (11th Cir. 1996).  Direct evidence is evidence that, "if 
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believed, proves [the] existence of [a] fact in issue without 

inference or presumption."  Burrell v. Bd. of Tr. of Ga. 

Military Coll., 125 F.3d 1390, 1393 (11th Cir. 1997).  Direct 

evidence consists of "only the most blatant remarks, whose 

intent could be nothing other than to discriminate" on the basis 

of an impermissible factor.  Carter v. City of Miami, 870 F.2d 

578, 582 (11th Cir. 1989).  There is no direct evidence of 

gender discrimination in the record.   

18.  To prove unlawful discrimination by circumstantial 

evidence, a party must establish a prima facie case of 

discrimination by a preponderance of the evidence.  If 

successful, this creates a presumption of discrimination.  Then 

the burden shifts to the employer to offer a legitimate, non-

discriminatory reason for the adverse employment action.  If the 

employer meets that burden, the presumption disappears and the 

employee must prove that the legitimate reasons were a pretext.  

Valenzuela v. Globe Ground N. Am., LLC, 18 So. 3d 17 (Fla. 3d 

DCA 2009). 

19.  Petitioner must prove discrimination by indirect or 

circumstantial evidence by first establishing a prima facie case 

of gender discrimination showing (a) she is a member of a 

protected class; ((b) she was qualified for the job; (c) she was 

subjected to an adverse employment action; and (d) other 

similarly-situated employees, who are not members of the 
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protected group, were treated more favorably than Petitioner.  

McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792, 802 (1973).    

20.  There is insufficient evidence to establish a prima 

facie case of discrimination based on gender.  There is no 

evidence that Petitioner was subject to an adverse employment 

action--she was merely reassigned to a different job.  Even 

assuming that reassignment constituted an adverse employment 

action, Petitioner failed to identify any other similarly-

situated males who were treated more favorably than she.  

Indeed, two males were reassigned to a different client for the 

same reason as Petitioner.   

21.  Even if a prima facie case was made, evidence was 

presented that established Petitioner was reassigned from Max-

Pak to another client for legitimate, non-discriminatory 

reasons.  There is ample evidence to show that Petitioner's 

reassignment was due solely to her violating a Max-Pak work 

rule.   

22.  Petitioner has failed to establish a prima facie case 

of gender discrimination by a preponderance of the evidence.  

Therefore, her Petition for Relief should be dismissed.  

RECOMMENDATION 

Based on the foregoing Findings of Fact and Conclusions of 

Law, it is 
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RECOMMENDED that the Florida Commission on Human Relations 

enter a final order dismissing the Petition for Relief filed by 

Petitioner against both Respondents. 

DONE AND ENTERED this 25th day of February, 2015, in 

Tallahassee, Leon County, Florida. 

S 

D. R. ALEXANDER 

Administrative Law Judge 

Division of Administrative Hearings 

The DeSoto Building 

1230 Apalachee Parkway 

Tallahassee, Florida  32399-3060 

(850) 488-9675 

Fax Filing (850) 921-6847 

www.doah.state.fl.us 

 

Filed with the Clerk of the 

Division of Administrative Hearings 

this 25th day of February, 2015. 

 

 

ENDNOTE 

 
1/
  In her Petition for Relief, Petitioner alleged for the first 

time that she was terminated in retaliation for participation in 

a protected activity, not otherwise described.  The undersigned 

lacks jurisdiction to consider the new charge.  See, e.g., 

Williams v. Shands at Alachua Gen. Hosp. & Santa Fe Health Care, 

Case No. 98-2539, 1999 Fla. Div. Adm. Hear. LEXIS 5120 (Fla. DOAH 

Jan. 8, 1999; FCHR June 16, 1999).   
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Richard A. Johnson 

1412 Connestee Road 

Lakeland, Florida  33805-3349 

 

Anna L. Foster 

647 West Third Street 

Lakeland, Florida  33805-4305 

 

Virgil Tray Batcher, Esquire 

Trent Cotney, P.A. 

Suite 100 

407 North Howard Avenue 

Tampa, Florida  33606-1575 

(eServed) 

 

Max-Pak, LLC 

2808 New Tampa Highway 

Lakeland, Florida  33815-3465 

 

Cheyanne M. Costillo, General Counsel 

Florida Commission on Human Relations 

Suite 100 

2009 Apalachee Parkway 

Tallahassee, Florida  32301-4857 

 

 

NOTICE OF RIGHT TO SUBMIT EXCEPTIONS 

 

All parties have the right to submit written exceptions within  

15 days of the date of this Recommended Order.  Any exceptions to 

this Recommended Order should be filed with the agency that will 

render a final order in this matter. 
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STATE OF FLORIDA 

DIVISION OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS 

 

 

JOHNNY L. TORRENCE, 

 

     Petitioner, 

 

vs. 

 

HENDRICK HONDA DAYTONA, 

 

     Respondent. 

                              / 

 

  

 

 

 

Case No. 14-5506 

 

RECOMMENDED ORDER 

 

 Pursuant to notice, this case was heard on February 9, 

2015, by video teleconference at sites in Tallahassee, Florida, 

and Daytona Beach, Florida, before E. Gary Early, a designated 

Administrative Law Judge of the Division of Administrative 

Hearings.  

APPEARANCES 

For Petitioner:  Johnny L. Torrence, pro se 

      237 North Seneca Street 

      Daytona Beach, Florida  32114 

 

For Respondent:  Leonard T. Hackett, Esquire 

     Vernis & Bowling of North Florida, P.A. 

     4309 Salisbury Road 

      Jacksonville, Florida  32216 

  

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE 

 Whether the Petitioner, Johnny L. Torrence, was subject to 

an unlawful employment practice by Respondent, Hendrick Honda 
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Daytona, on account of his race or his age in violation of 

section 760.10, Florida Statutes. 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

 On February 20, 2014, Petitioner filed a complaint of 

discrimination with the Florida Commission on Human Relations 

(FCHR) which alleged that Respondent violated section 760.10, 

Florida Statutes, by discriminating against him on the basis of 

his race or his age.   

 On July 28, 2014, the FCHR issued a Determination:  

No Cause and a Notice of Determination:  No Cause, by which the 

FCHR determined that reasonable cause did not exist to believe 

that an unlawful employment practice occurred.  On November 17, 

2014, Petitioner filed a Petition for Relief with the FCHR.
1/
  

The Petition was transmitted to the Division of Administrative 

Hearings to conduct a final hearing.  

 The final hearing was set for January 13, 2015, and was 

convened as scheduled.  Due to miscommunication between 

Respondent and its corporate office, Respondent was unaware that 

the hearing had been scheduled or that it was being held.  As a 

result, the hearing was rescheduled for February 9, 2015, and 

was held on that date as scheduled.   

 At the final hearing, Petitioner testified on his own 

behalf.  Respondent presented the testimony of Ralph Moreford, 

Respondent’s service director; and Dale Lockwood, Respondent’s 
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shop foreman.  Respondent’s Exhibits 1 and 2 were received into 

evidence.  

 No transcript of the hearing was filed.  The parties filed 

Proposed Recommended Orders, which have been considered in the 

preparation of this Recommended Order.  To the extent the 

proposed orders allege facts that were not the subject of 

testimony or evidence received during the final hearing, those 

alleged facts have not been considered.  References to statutes 

are to Florida Statutes (2014) unless otherwise noted. 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

 1.  Petitioner, who was at all times relevant to this 

matter an employee of Respondent, is African-American. 

 2.  There was no direct evidence of Petitioner’s age.  

However, Petitioner worked at the automobile dealership 

currently owned by Respondent since October 1987.  During 

Petitioner’s questioning of Mr. Moreford, Petitioner indicated 

that the two had worked together at the dealership for virtually 

that entire period, beginning when they were 18 years of age, a 

statement with which Mr. Moreford appeared to agree.  Thus, a 

reasonable inference can be drawn that Petitioner is more than 

40 years of age.   

 3.  Respondent owns and operates an automobile dealership 

located in Daytona Beach, Florida, having purchased the 

dealership in September 2011.  Respondent is part of a larger 
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group of dealerships, with its corporate offices, including that 

of its human resources department, located in Charlotte, North 

Carolina.  Respondent employs more than 15 full-time employees 

at any given time. 

 4.  Petitioner was initially employed by Respondent in 

October 1987.  He worked as a detailer for some period, and more 

recently was employed as a lot attendant.  His duties were 

generally to greet customers and take vehicle information, and 

move vehicles from place to place as needed by sales and 

maintenance personnel.   

 5.  On May 2, 2013, a customer brought his vehicle to 

Respondent for maintenance.  The customer was a former employee 

of Respondent, and was known by Petitioner.  The customer was 

initially met by an advisor other than Petitioner.  The customer 

asked that his vehicle mileage be listed on the service ticket 

as 1,000 miles less than its actual mileage.
2/
  Recording a 

vehicle’s mileage as anything other than its actual mileage is 

contrary to Respondent’s policies.  Thus, the request was 

refused.  

 6.  Petitioner was assigned to deliver the customer’s 

vehicle and paperwork to the service lane.  After having his 

request to reduce the vehicle’s mileage on the service ticket 

refused, the customer asked Petitioner to do the same.  

Petitioner complied with the request, scratched through the 
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correct mileage written on the service ticket, and wrote in the 

lower mileage requested by the customer.  Upon delivery of the 

service ticket to the service lane manager, the scratched-

through mileage was noticed.  Petitioner was asked whether the 

mileage he had written on the ticket was correct, to which he 

replied in the affirmative.  The vehicle’s mileage was 

subsequently confirmed as being 1,000 miles more than that 

written by Petitioner. 

 7.  Petitioner was called into a meeting by Respondent’s 

management to explain the situation.  Petitioner explained that 

he only did what the customer wanted him to do -- a variant of 

“the customer is always right.”  As a result of his action, 

Petitioner was given a written reprimand.  Based on the 

testimony of Mr. Moreford, it was determined that the Employee 

Counseling Report was a business record as defined in section 

90.802(6).   

 8.  In late September 2013, a customer brought her vehicle 

in to Respondent for two new tires.  Her old tires were removed 

and taken to the dealership’s holding area, at which all used 

tires are marked for identification and collected for delivery 

to a used tire recycling facility.  Respondent does not allow 

employees to take used tires from the holding area. 

 9.  After the customer’s new tires were mounted, the 

customer indicated that she wanted one of her old tires for use 
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as a spare.  An employee was sent to the holding area to 

retrieve one of the tires.  Since the tires are marked, there 

would have been no mistaking them.  After a search, the employee 

was unable to locate the used tires. 

 10.  Several employees, including Petitioner, were asked if 

they knew the whereabouts of the used tires.  Petitioner 

admitted that his sister needed better tires on her car, and 

that he had given the customer’s used tires to her.  Petitioner 

was instructed to retrieve the tires and return them so they 

could be provided to the customer.  Petitioner left the premises 

to retrieve the tires. 

 11.  After having waited a reasonable period of time for 

Petitioner to return, Respondent was compelled to give the 

customer a new tire from its inventory for her to use as her 

spare.  After the customer left, Petitioner returned to the 

dealership with two used tires that were not the ones removed 

from the customer’s vehicle. 

 12.  On or about October 2, 2013, Petitioner was called 

into a meeting with the service lane manager, Mr. Sandrowicz, 

along with Dale Lockwood and Ralph Moreford.  Mr. Lockwood and 

Mr. Moreford had worked at the dealership, under its current and 

prior owners, for most if not all of the years of Petitioner’s 

employment. 
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 13.  During the meeting, the attendees discussed the 

incident with the tires, which was a violation of Respondent’s 

policies.  Petitioner stated that a younger Caucasian employee, 

Brandon Swift, had done the same thing without repercussions.  

Nonetheless, Mr. Moreford advised Petitioner that he was 

terminated from employment as a result of the incident.  On 

October 7, 2013, Petitioner was provided with a Separation 

Report describing the incident and its consequences.  Based on 

the testimony of Mr. Moreford, it was determined that the 

Separation Report was a business record as defined in section 

90.802(6). 

 14.  After the meeting was over, Mr. Swift was asked if he 

had taken any tires from the used tire holding area.  Mr. Swift 

denied that he had done so.  The used tire holding area was 

searched, and the tires alleged to have been taken by Mr. Swift 

were located.  Petitioner speculated that Mr. Swift may have 

returned the allegedly purloined tires in time to avoid 

detection, though there was no support for that supposition.  

Thus, Mr. Swift is not a useful comparator of any dissimilar 

disciplinary action based on race or age.  

 15.  Mr. Moreford and Mr. Lockwood testified that 

Petitioner’s race and age had no bearing on the decision to 

terminate Petitioner.  Rather, they testified credibly that the 

decision was based solely on the fact that Petitioner had 
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violated company policy after having recently received a written 

warning for a different violation.  Mr. Lockwood knew of no 

employee other than Petitioner having taken used tires. 

 16.  Petitioner identified no instance of any racially 

disparaging comments directed at himself or any other employee 

by anyone affiliated with Respondent.  Petitioner identified no 

instance of any ill-treatment directed at him due to his age. 

 17.  Petitioner identified two instances in addition to 

that involving Mr. Swift that he believed support his claim of 

discrimination.   

 18.  For some period of time, “J.D.” was Respondent’s 

service manager.  Petitioner did not like the way J.D. talked to 

him.  On one occasion, J.D. came to the back of the shop area 

and said all of the employees gathered there were “ignorant and 

stupid.”  The group of employees included three African-

Americans and one or two Caucasians.  In Petitioner’s view, J.D. 

was generally unpleasant to everyone.  Thus, Petitioner’s 

testimony supports a finding that J.D.’s disagreeable nature was 

visited equally on all subordinate employees regardless of race 

or age.  

 19.  As a second comparator, Petitioner alleged that 

Respondent’s African-American employees were charged for washing 

their cars at Respondent’s car wash, while Caucasian employees 

washed their cars, trucks, boats, and motorcycles free of 
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charge.  There was no corroborating evidence for Petitioner’s 

statement and, standing alone, it is insufficient to support a 

finding that such occurred.  Furthermore, the allegation, even 

if proven, was not so similar to that forming the basis for the 

adverse employment action as to provide a useful comparison. 

 20.  Petitioner argued that “it wasn’t right the way they 

fired me.”  He asserted that Respondent should have given him a 

written warning for the tire incident rather than firing him.  

While the act of taking two used tires that, but for the 

customer’s request to keep one as a spare, would have been 

destined for a recycling facility seems a relatively minor 

infraction, it was nonetheless a violation of Respondent’s 

policies.  More to the point, regardless of the severity of the 

infraction and the perceived fairness of the sanction, 

Respondent’s decision to fire Petitioner was not based on racial 

animus or age bias.  

Ultimate Findings of Fact 

 21.  There was no competent, substantial evidence adduced 

at the hearing to support a finding that the decision to 

terminate Petitioner from employment was made due to 

Petitioner’s race or age.  Rather, the decision was based on 

Petitioner’s decision to take two tires from Respondent’s used 

tire holding area in violation of Respondent’s policies, and his 
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eventual return to the dealership with two tires that were not 

those taken.   

 22.  There was no competent, substantial evidence adduced 

at the hearing that persons who were not African-American or 

were under the age of 40 were treated differently from 

Petitioner, or were subject to dissimilar personnel policies and 

practices. 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

 23.  Sections 120.569 and 120.57(1), Florida Statutes, 

grant the Division of Administrative Hearings jurisdiction over 

the subject matter of this proceeding and of the parties. 

Discrimination 

 24.  Section 760.10 provides, in pertinent part:  

(1)  It is an unlawful employment practice 

for an employer: 

  

(a)  To discharge or to fail or refuse to 

hire any individual, or otherwise to 

discriminate against any individual with 

respect to compensation, terms, conditions, 

or privileges of employment, because of such 

individual's race, color, religion, sex, 

national origin, age, handicap, or marital 

status. 

  

 25.  Petitioner maintains that Respondent discriminated 

against him on account of his race and his age. 

 26.  Section 760.11(1) provides, in pertinent part, that 

“[a]ny person aggrieved by a violation of ss. 760.01-760.10 may 
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file a complaint with the [FCHR] within 365 days of the alleged 

violation.”  Petitioner timely filed his complaint.   

 27.  Section 760.11(7) provides that upon a determination 

by the FCHR that there is no probable cause to believe that a 

violation of the Florida Civil Rights Act of 1992 has occurred, 

“[t]he aggrieved person may request an administrative hearing 

under ss. 120.569 and 120.57, but any such request must be made 

within 35 days of the date of determination of reasonable 

cause.”  Following the FCHR determination of no cause, 

Petitioner filed his Petition for Relief requesting this 

hearing. 

 28.  Chapter 760, Part I, is patterned after Title VII of 

the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended.  When “a Florida 

statute is modeled after a federal law on the same subject, the 

Florida statute will take on the same constructions as placed on 

its federal prototype.”  Brand v. Fla. Power Corp., 633 So. 2d 

504, 509 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994); see also Valenzuela v. GlobeGround 

N. Am, LLC, 18 So. 3d 17 (Fla. 3rd DCA 2009); Fla. State Univ. 

v. Sondel, 685 So. 2d 923 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996); Fla. Dep't of 

Cmty. Aff. v. Bryant, 586 So. 2d 1205 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991).   

 29.  Petitioner has the burden of proving by a 

preponderance of the evidence that Respondent committed an 

unlawful employment practice.  See St. Louis v. Fla. Int'l 
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Univ., 60 So. 3d 455 (Fla. 3rd DCA 2011); Fla. Dep't of Transp. 

v. J.W.C. Co., 396 So. 2d 778 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981).  

 30.  Employees may prove discrimination by direct, 

statistical, or circumstantial evidence.  Valenzuela v. 

GlobeGround N. Am., LLC, 18 So. 3d at 22.  

 31.  Direct evidence is evidence that, if believed, would 

prove the existence of discriminatory intent without resort to 

inference or presumption.  Denney v. City of Albany, 247 F.3d 

1172, 1182 (11th Cir. 2001); Holifield v. Reno, 115 F.3d 1555, 

1561 (11th Cir. 1997).  Courts have held that “‘only the most 

blatant remarks, whose intent could be nothing other than to 

discriminate . . .’ will constitute direct evidence of 

discrimination.”  Damon v. Fleming Supermarkets of Fla., Inc., 

196 F.3d 1354, 1358-59 (11th Cir. 1999)(citations omitted). 

 32.  The record of this proceeding contains no direct 

evidence of any racial or age bias on the part of Respondent at 

any level. 

 33.  Petitioner presented no statistical evidence of 

discrimination by Respondent in its personnel decisions 

affecting Petitioner. 

 34.  In the absence of any direct or statistical evidence 

of discriminatory intent, Petitioner must rely on circumstantial 

evidence of such intent.  In McDonnell Douglas Corporation v. 

Green, 411 U.S. 792 (1973), and as refined in Texas Department 
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of Community Affairs v. Burdine, 450 U.S. 248 (1981) and 

St. Mary's Honor Center v. Hicks, 509 U.S. 502 (1993), the 

United States Supreme Court established the procedure for 

determining whether employment discrimination has occurred when 

employees rely upon circumstantial evidence of discriminatory 

intent.  

 35.  Under McDonnell Douglas, Petitioner has the initial 

burden of establishing a prima facie case of unlawful 

discrimination.  To establish a prima facie case of racial 

discrimination, Petitioner must demonstrate by a preponderance 

of the evidence that 1) he is a member of a protected class; 

2) he was qualified for the position; 3) he was subjected to an 

adverse employment action; and 4) his employer treated 

similarly-situated employees outside of his protected class more 

favorably than he was treated.  Burke-Fowler v. Orange Cnty., 

447 F.3d 1319, 1323 (11th Cir. 2006).  

 36.  To establish a prima facie case of age discrimination, 

Petitioner must demonstrate by a preponderance of the evidence 

that 1) he is a member of a protected class, i.e., at least 

forty years of age; 2) he was qualified for the position; 3) he 

was subjected to an adverse employment action; and 4) his 

employer treated substantially younger employees more favorably 

than he was treated.  O'Connor v. Consol. Coin Caterers Corp., 
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517 U.S. 308 (1996); City of Hollywood v. Hogan, 986 So. 2d 634, 

641 (Fla 4th DCA 2008). 

 37.  When determining whether similarly-situated employees 

have been treated differently in cases of discriminatory 

discipline, an evaluation must be made that the employees 

engaged in similar conduct but were disciplined in different 

ways.  In making that determination, “the quantity and quality 

of the comparator's misconduct [must] be nearly identical to 

prevent courts from second-guessing employers’ reasonable 

decisions and confusing apples with oranges.”  Burke-Fowler v. 

Orange Cnty., 447 F.3d at 1323 (citing Maniccia v. Brown, 171 

F.3d 1364, 1368 (11th Cir. 1999)). 

 38.  If Petitioner is able to prove his prima facie case by 

a preponderance of the evidence, the burden shifts to Respondent 

to articulate a legitimate, non-discriminatory reason for its 

employment decision.  Tex. Dep’t of Cmty. Aff. v. Burdine, 

450 U.S. at 255; Dep’t of Corr. v. Chandler, 582 So. 2d 1183 

(Fla. 1st DCA 1991).  An employer has the burden of production, 

not persuasion, to demonstrate to the finder of fact that the 

decision was non-discriminatory.  Dep’t of Corr. v. Chandler, 

supra.  This burden of production is "exceedingly light."  

Holifield v. Reno, 115 F.3d at 1564; Turnes v. Amsouth Bank, 

N.A., 36 F.3d 1057, 1061 (11th Cir. 1994).  
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 39.  If the employer produces evidence that the decision 

was non-discriminatory, then the complainant must establish that 

the proffered reason was not the true reason but merely a 

pretext for discrimination.  St. Mary's Honor Ctr. v. Hicks, 509 

U.S. at 516-518.  In order to satisfy this final step of the 

process, Petitioner must “show[] directly that a discriminatory 

reason more likely than not motivated the decision, or 

indirectly by showing that the proffered reason for the 

employment decision is not worthy of belief.”  Dep’t of Corr. v. 

Chandler, 582 So. 2d at 1186 (citing Tex. Dep't of Cmty. Aff. v. 

Burdine, 450 U.S. at 252-256).  Petitioner would have to prove 

not only that the employer’s stated reason for the employment 

decision was false, but also that discrimination was the real 

reason for the decision.  Jiminez v. Mary Washington Coll., 57 

F.3d 369, 378 (4th Cir. 1995).  The demonstration of pretext 

“merges with the plaintiff's ultimate burden of showing that the 

defendant intentionally discriminated against the plaintiff.”  

Holifield v. Reno, 115 F.3d at 1565. 

 40.  In a proceeding under the Civil Rights Act, “[w]e are 

not in the business of adjudging whether employment decisions 

are prudent or fair.  Instead, our sole concern is whether 

unlawful discriminatory animus motivates a challenged employment 

decision.”  Damon v. Fleming Supermarkets of Fla., Inc., 196 

F.3d at 1361.  As set forth by the Eleventh Circuit Court of 
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Appeals, “[t]he employer may fire an employee for a good reason, 

a bad reason, a reason based on erroneous facts, or for no 

reason at all, as long as its action is not for a discriminatory 

reason.”  Nix v. WLCY Radio/Rahall Commc’ns, 738 F.2d 1181, 1187 

(11th Cir. 1984).  Moreover, “[t]he employer’s stated legitimate 

reason . . . does not have to be a reason that the judge or 

jurors would act on or approve.”  Dep’t of Corr. v. Chandler, 

582 So. 2d at 1187. 

Prima Facie Case 

 

 41.  Petitioner demonstrated that he is a member of a 

protected class, that he was qualified to hold his position with 

Respondent, and that he was subjected to an adverse employment 

action, i.e., termination from employment.  

 42.  Where Petitioner has failed in the establishment of 

his prima facie case is his failure to demonstrate that other 

persons outside of his protected racial classification, or 

persons who were substantially younger than he were subject to 

personnel decisions that differed from those applied to him.  

 43.  The only evidence of a similarly-situated employee 

comparator produced by Petitioner was the allegation that 

Mr. Swift, a younger Caucasian man, allegedly took used tires 

from the holding area without adverse consequences.  However, 

the comparison was undermined by evidence that Mr. Swift did not 
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take any used tires, with the tires allegedly taken having been 

located in the holding area, where they were supposed to be.   

 44.  In short, Petitioner failed to prove that Respondent’s 

decision to terminate him was the result of any consideration of 

or discriminatory intent based on race or age, or that his 

treatment as an employee differed in any material way from the 

treatment afforded other employees, regardless of their race or 

their age.  Therefore, Petitioner failed to prove a prima facie 

case of discrimination, and his petition for relief should be 

dismissed. 

Legitimate, Non-discriminatory Reason 

 45.  Assuming -- for the sake of argument -- that 

Petitioner made a prima facie showing, the burden would shift to 

Respondent to proffer a legitimate non-discriminatory reason for 

its action.   

 46.  Respondent met its burden by producing credible 

evidence that Petitioner was terminated solely on the basis of 

his having taken two tires from the used tire holding area 

without permission, and in violation of Respondent’s policies 

prohibiting the same, and for no other reason. 

 47.  Although Respondent’s burden to refute Petitioner’s 

prima facie case was light, the evidence showing the reason for 

its personnel decision to be legitimate and non-discriminatory 

was substantial.   
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Pretext 

 

 48.  Assuming -- again, for the sake of argument -- that 

Petitioner made a prima facie showing, then upon Respondent’s 

production of evidence of a legitimate non-discriminatory reason 

for its action, the burden shifted back to Petitioner to prove 

by a preponderance of the evidence that Respondent’s stated 

reasons were not its true reasons, but were a pretext for 

discrimination.   

 49.  The record of this proceeding does not support a 

finding or a conclusion that Respondent’s proffered explanation 

for its personnel decisions was false or not worthy of credence, 

nor does it support an inference that the explanation was 

pretextual. 

Conclusion 

 50.  Respondent put forth persuasive evidence that 

Petitioner was terminated from employment as a result of his 

violation of Respondent’s policy against taking property, 

regardless of its intrinsic value, and not as a result of race 

or retaliation. 

 51.  Section 760.10 is designed to eliminate workplace 

discrimination, but it is “not designed to strip employers of 

discretion when making legitimate, necessary personnel 

decisions.”  See Holland v. Washington Homes, Inc., 487 F.3d 

208, 220 (11th Cir. 2007).  Because Petitioner failed to put 
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forth sufficient evidence that Respondent had some 

discriminatory reason for its personnel decision, his petition 

must be dismissed.   

RECOMMENDATION 

 Based on the foregoing Findings of Fact and Conclusions of 

Law, it is RECOMMENDED that the Florida Commission on Human 

Relations issue a final order finding that Respondent, Hendrick 

Honda Daytona, did not commit any unlawful employment practice 

as to Petitioner, Johnny L. Torrence, and dismissing the 

Petition for Relief filed in FCHR No. 2014-00303. 

DONE AND ENTERED this 26th day of February, 2015, in 

Tallahassee, Leon County, Florida. 

S                                   

E. GARY EARLY 

Administrative Law Judge 

Division of Administrative Hearings 

The DeSoto Building 

1230 Apalachee Parkway 

Tallahassee, Florida  32399-3060 

(850) 488-9675 

Fax Filing (850) 921-6847 

www.doah.state.fl.us 

 

Filed with the Clerk of the 

Division of Administrative Hearings 

this 26th day of February, 2015. 

 

 

ENDNOTES 

 
1/
  The period of time between the issuance of the Determination:  

No Cause and the Notice of Determination:  No Cause, and the 
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filing of the Petition for Relief was not explained.  Though it 

facially appears that the Petition was filed more than 35 days 

from the date of the FCHR action, there was no evidence to 

suggest that a timely request for extension of time or other 

acceptable means of enlarging the time to file a Petition had 

not been filed.  The FCHR forwarded the Petition to the Division 

for assignment of an Administrative Law Judge in the normal 

course, and no motion to dismiss the Petition as untimely was 

filed.  Thus, the Petition is accepted. 

  
2/
  The customer’s vehicle had over 138,000 miles on its 

odometer, and the request was to reduce the recorded mileage by 

1,000 miles.  How such a seemingly inconsequential change would 

benefit the customer was not explained.  There was, however, no 

dispute that the request was made by the customer and carried 

out by Petitioner.   
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NOTICE OF RIGHT TO SUBMIT EXCEPTIONS 

 

All parties have the right to submit written exceptions within 

15 days from the date of this Recommended Order.  Any exceptions 

to this Recommended Order should be filed with the agency that 

will issue the Final Order in this case.  
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